IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 67,124

AMERICAN CYANAMID COMPANY,)
)
 Defendant/Petitioner,)
)
 vs.)
)
 LESTER K. ROY,)
)
 Plaintiff/Respondent.)
 _____)

FILED

SID J. WHITE

JUN 17 1985

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
 Chief Deputy Clerk

[Handwritten signature]

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

PAUL R. REGENSDORF, of
 Fleming, O'Bryan & Fleming
 Post Office Drawer 7028
 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33338
 (305) 764-3000 & 945-2686
 Attorneys for Petitioner.

INTRODUCTION

This Petition seeks review of a decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal which affirmed a judgment for compensatory and punitive damages against AMERICAN CYANAMID COMPANY in a products liability case. 466 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). The chemical involved was acknowledged to be inherently dangerous; the issue is whether the warning on the bag was in fact adequate and, if inadequate, was it so willfully, wantonly, and maliciously inadequate as to warrant the imposition of punitive damages.

AMERICAN CYANAMID COMPANY (CYANAMID) respectfully suggests that the decision of the Fourth District is in conflict with the following decisions:

1. The decision of this Court in Tampa Drug Company v. Wait, 103 So.2d 603 (Fla. 1958) establishes the general duty that a manufacturer of an inherently dangerous product must satisfy to avoid the imposition of compensatory damages -- it knew or should have known of the dangerousness. The Fourth District has taken that same duty and utilized it as the standard now to be employed in the Fourth District to assess punitive damages against a manufacturer of an inherently dangerous product. Such a standard is contrary to Tampa Drug and to this Court's decision in White Construction Co. v. DuPont, 455 So.2d 1026 (Fla. 1984), requiring more than even gross negligence to assess punitive damages.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

CYANAMID manufactures a product known as AM-9, which is made up 95% of Acrylamide. This chemical, as a neurotoxin, may adversely affect the nervous system. It does not affect all

individuals, even at highly concentrated levels. The inherently dangerous nature of AM-9 (a chemical grout that fulfills a most useful purpose in society, particularly in sewer work) was discovered early in its development by CYANAMID through an extensive research program funded by CYANAMID. The results of this research program have been widely published and expanded for over thirty years.

Over the years, CYANAMID has, from time to time, changed the warning label and the extensive instructions on use of the product on the bags of the grout, based upon its evaluation of the ongoing research program.

Mr. LESTER ROY (ROY) worked with AM-9 for approximately ten years with two different employers. As a result of this contact, he claimed to have suffered a contact dermatitis and claimed to have a diffuse peripheral neuropathy causing physical problems.

At the trial in this cause, there was conflicting evidence as to what was causing Mr. ROY's complaints, but the jury obviously concluded that exposure to AM-9 contributed to his problems.

CYANAMID's warning label provided, among other things, "Warning: Repeated skin contact, inhalation or swallowing may cause nervous system disturbances ..." (Emphasis added). Plaintiff's labeling expert felt the warning was inadequate, preferring it to say "will" cause problems.

AMERICAN CYANAMID's label was in compliance with the guidelines of the Manufacturing Chemists Association, an industry guideline, as well as the federal transportation guidelines

(mandatory) which adopt the Manufacturing Chemists Association system.

There is no issue concerning CYANAMID's knowledge of the dangerous nature of the product which, in the words of the Fourth District, can cause dermatitis, neuropathy, and ataxia "in some people extensively exposed to AM-9." (Emphasis added).

The jury awarded Mr. ROY compensatory damages of \$292,000, punitive damages of \$45,000, and his wife consortium damages of \$12,500.

The Fourth District affirmed this decision in an initially unanimous opinion which is attached as an exhibit to this brief. In upholding the punitive damage award, the Fourth District established this standard for punitive damages:

When it comes to punitive damages, however, as contrasted with mere liability, we cannot envisage the level of intent or conscious indifference required to impose punitive damages, absent knowledge or opportunity to know. Slip Opinion at 5.

CYANAMID challenged the panel's decision by a motion for rehearing, a motion for rehearing en banc, and a suggestion for certification of question of great public importance. Each was denied by the Fourth District. The motion for rehearing, however, did result in one member of the original majority dissenting and stating:

Upon reflection, I believe we made a mistake in approving the award of punitive damages against Appellant. The facts simply do not reflect the kind of flagrant misconduct that would justify a finding of willful and wanton disregard for the safety of persons such as the Appellee.

466 So.2d at 1085.

The notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction was timely filed in the lower court by Petitioner.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In Tampa Drug Co. v. Wait, 103 So.2d 603 (Fla. 1958), this Court stated that, to hold a manufacturer of an inherently dangerous product liable for compensatory damages, a plaintiff must show that the manufacturer knew or should have known of the dangerousness of its product. The Fourth District has now stated that it can think of no standard for the intent or indifference needed for punitive damages except that same test of "knew or should have known."

This test is diametrically opposed to this Court's recent and rigid adherence to the rule of Carraway v. Revell, 116 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1959), in White Construction Co. v. DuPont, 455 So.2d 1026 (Fla. 1984). The conflict with White Construction is made manifest by noting that every other Florida products liability case imposing punitive damages had direct and material evidence that the manufacturer had concealed unfavorable evidence disclosing the defect, or coerced employees into not disclosing, let alone attempting to remedy, the defect. At most, CYANAMID's warning (complying with all industry and legal standards) was found to be insufficient.

POINT ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT IS IN JURISDICTIONAL CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS IN TAMPA DRUG CO. v. WAIT, 103 So.2d 603 (Fla. 1958) AND WHITE CONSTRUCTION CO. v. DuPONT, 455 So.2d 1026 (Fla. 1984).

A complete understanding of the jurisdictional issue before this Court -- the proper role and standard for the imposition of punitive damages in a products liability case relating to an inadequate (as opposed to absent) warning of an inherently dangerous product -- requires a recitation of that which this case is not.

1. It is not a case where the defendant hid, concealed, or refused to acknowledge the dangerousness of its product. Compare, e.g., Johns-Manville, *infra*, Piper, *infra*. CYANAMID, through its own extensive research program, in house and in the academic medical community at large, discovered the true nature of this most valuable product and disseminated the information widely.

2. It is not a case where the manufacturer refused to warn of the dangerous product. It was a situation where the Plaintiff's labeling expert disagreed with the make-up of CYANAMID's extensive warning label.

3. It is not a case in which the defendant failed, refused or neglected to comply with any applicable standard. Instead, the CYANAMID product was shown to have been in compliance with the comprehensive industry standard, and it was shown that that industry standard had been adopted by the federal government as

the mandatory standard for the transportation of dangerous products.

4. Finally, it was not a case in which the product was defective. It is essential to note that the "defect" said to exist in this case was the inadequate warning. The product was acknowledged to be inherently dangerous from day one of this case. The only thing that would make it "unreasonably dangerous" would be the warning said to be inadequate.

What this case is is one in which a company manufactured a product which, to some people in some applications, could cause neurological problems. It did not affect all people adversely and did not cause the same effects in all people who were affected.

This is a case which showed that since the product's development in the early 1950's, CYANAMID constantly tested and evaluated in house, and funded and published research in the academic and medical communities, to determine and disclose the nature of this most useful product. CYANAMID readily admits that there was trial testimony from the Plaintiff's labeling expert that he would have used a label that was more "startling." He advocated the use of the word poison and the inclusion of a skull and crossbones. This is notwithstanding the fact that there was no evidence, ever, anywhere, that Acrylamide has caused the death of any human being under any circumstances.

In this context, this Court's seminal decision in Tampa Drug must be examined for jurisdictional conflict. To establish a case of compensatory damage liability against the manufacturer of an inherently dangerous product, this Court stated in Tampa

Drug, 103 So.2d at 609:

The burden remains on one who claims a negligent failure to warn of an inherent danger to prove that the distributor knew or by the exercise of reasonable care, should have known, of the potential danger and in the reasonable course of business, should be able to foresee the possible uses of the commodity, as well as the potential damage or injury that might result from such use.

Against this standard for liability, which is not here challenged, the Fourth District in its penultimate paragraph on punitive damage liability, created this standard:

When it comes to punitive damages, however, as contrasted with mere liability, we cannot envisage the level of intent or conscious indifference required to impose punitive damages, absent knowledge or opportunity to know.

466 So.2d at 1083.

What the Fourth District has done, at least in a case of an inherently dangerous product, is to equate this Court's standard for compensatory damage liability with the standard of conduct sufficient to impose punitive damage liability.

A party's knowledge, or opportunity to have knowledge of a dangerous condition can quite properly create the obligation to warn and to warn adequately. For punitive damages, however, it is not the knowledge of the dangerousness of the inherently dangerous product, it is the knowledge of the defect (here the warning) and the refusal to do anything about it.

By the decision of the Court below, AMERICAN CYANAMID has been found punitively responsible for a defect (the inadequate warning) when there was no evidence that it knew the warning was defective. There is no question that the product "may," "can," or "could" cause injury under certain circumstances and that

CYANAMID knew it could. There is absolutely no evidence, however, that the product will cause injury and, in fact, the evidence negates that comprehensive effect. Nevertheless, that is what the Plaintiff's expert wanted.

By creating a punitive damage standard that exactly overlaps the compensatory damage standard, the Fourth District has simultaneously created jurisdictional conflict with this Court's decision in White Construction, supra. There, in reaffirming the Carraway v. Revell standard, 116 So.2d 16 (Fla. 1959), this Court noted that more than gross negligence is required to impose punitive damages and that the conduct must evince a reckless disregard of human life or of the safety of persons exposed to its dangerous effects, or the entire want of care raising a presumption of conscious indifference. This Court's standard in White Construction may or may not be a turning away from the recent trend to include punitive damages in virtually every tort lawsuit, but at the very least, it is a clear and explicit rejection that a standard as simple as "knew or should have known" is sufficient to impose punitive damages in a products liability case.

The compensatory damage standard in a products liability case involving an inherently dangerous product is spelled out in Tampa Drug and the punitive damage standard (at least in all other cases) is spelled out in White Construction. The Fourth District has equated "knew or should have known" with punitive damages. Where the face of the opinion demonstrates that the manufacturer continued in a deliberate attempt to investigate, warn, and inform the community, the imposition of punitive damages is in

jurisdictional conflict with these two decisions.

Five cases before this case have addressed the imposition of punitive damages in a products liability setting under Florida law. In each of those cases, there was direct evidence that the defendant manufacturer was involved in a deliberate cover up, coercion of employees, and suppression of reports or tests that specifically told it that its product was defective. CYANAMID must acknowledge that none of those cases expressly requires the "smoking gun" of corporate cover up or coerced employees, but each of them prominently feature that aspect. Johns-Manville Sales Corp. v. Janssens, 463 So.2d 242 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) (massive discussion at 249-51); American Motors Corp. v. Ellis, 403 So.2d 459, 467 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). See also Toyota Motor Co. v. Moll, 438 So.2d 192, 195 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); Piper Aircraft Corp. v. Coulter, 426 So.2d 1108, 1110 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); Dorsey v. Honda Motor Company, Ltd., 655 F.2d 650, 653, 656 (5th Cir. 1981) (applying Florida law).

Notwithstanding the total and complete absence of any corporate wrongdoing akin to any of the foregoing, the Fourth District rejected the necessity of a "smoking gun" or other conduct exceeding gross negligence, and imposed liability on CYANAMID because, as admitted from the beginning, it knew or should have known that its product was inherently dangerous. In other words, once a court finds that the Tampa Drug test is exceeded, requiring a warning, the case becomes a punitive damage case if the warning is deemed inadequate. The Fourth District's opinion may pay lip service to White Construction, but the decision and hold-

ing is in jurisdictional conflict with White Construction and Tampa Drug.

In order to allow manufacturers in Florida to assess their responsibilities with respect to the products they manufacture, and more importantly with respect to the warnings they place on products, it is respectfully urged that this Court take jurisdiction in this cause for the purpose of remedying the disarray in Florida product liability/punitive damage law that has been created by the Fourth District's decision in this cause.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, it is respectfully urged that this Court accept jurisdiction and consider the merits of the dispute between these parties.