AMERICAN CYANAMID COMPANY,

Defendant/Petitioner/Cross-Respondent,

vs.

LESTER K. ROY,

Plaintiff/Respondent/Cross-Petitioner.

ROY'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

DON LACY Box 6298 Tallahassee, FL 32314 *404-878-7388* BUTLER & PETTIT, P. A. Suite 100 1995 E. Oakland Park Blvd. Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33306

Summary of argument

There is no conflict. The court below specifically followed the principles involved in those cases. The jury specifically found that the defendant has committed a fraud and misrepresentation. This is a case where the defendant hid, concealed, and refused to acknowledge the dangerousness of its product to the ultimate user.

Argument

As noted by the Fourth District Court of Appeal:

"The jury found that American Cyanamid had marketed its product, AM-9, a chemical grout, used in sealing sewer lines and with which Roy had worked, with a defect, by reason of a defective warning, and that the defect was a legal cause of damage to the Roys. They found American Cyanamide had negligently caused the damage, had also committed a fraud or misrepresentation and had acted with malice, moral turpitude, wantonness or with reckless indifference to the rights of others." <u>American</u> <u>Cyanamide v. Roy</u>, 466 So. 2d 1079 (Fla. 4 DCA 1984), at page 1081

The deception practiced by defendant continued right up through the trial of this cause, and that no doubt was important to the jury. For example, the defendant put on an expert witness who told the jury that laboratory rats did not die from the central nervous system effect of their contact with AM-9. Then, on cross-examination by plaintiff, this defense witness was forced to admit that what happened to the rats was that they were unable to crawl to their food, and they therefore actually died from starvation!

Florida has always allowed punitive damages when the defendant is guilty of fraud, malice, and willfully commits a wrong which injures the plaintiff. In this cause, the warning was not adequate because it did not make apparent the potential harmful consequences such that it would cause a reasonable man to exercise caution commensurate with the potential danger. The jury properly decided that the defendant manufacturer recklessly and willfully disregarded the danger to plaintiff when its warning persisted in understating the risks attached to the use of AM-9. Given the specific interrogatory jury verdict, punitive damages must follow as a matter of law. Petitioner is really arguing with the jury finding of fact, and has totally failed to demonstrate any jurisdictional conflict.

-3-

POINT II

WHETHER THE DECISION BELOW IS IN CONFLICT WITH THE DECISIONS IN SUCH CASES AS <u>FLORIDA SOUTHERN</u> <u>RAILWAY COMPANY V. HIRST</u>, 30 FLA. 1, 11 SO. 506 (1892) AND NATIONAL <u>CAR RENTAL SYSTEM, INC. V. HOLLAND</u> 269 SO. 2D 407 (FLA. 4TH DCA 1972), <u>CERT. DEN.</u>, 273 SO. 2D 768 (FLA. 1973)

Summary of argument

In the instant case, the jury specifically found not only negligence, but also fraud, misrepresentation, malice, moral turpitude, wantonness, willfulness, and that the acts of defendant were done with reckless indifference to the rights of others. Under this finding, the trial court erred in reducing the total verdict by the plaintiff's comparative negligence since comparative negligence is no defense to an intentional tort nor to gross negligence. In affirming the trial court on this issue, the Fourth District Court of Appeal has created conflict with a long line of Florida cases.

Argument

Since the instant jury found defendant guilty of willful and wanton misconduct, the court should not have reduced plaintiff's recovery by the percentage of his ordinary negligence.

Prior to the adoption of comparative negligence by the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u>, 280 So. 2d 431 (Fla. S. Ct. 1973), Florida courts had held that a plaintiff's own contributory negligence would not bar his recovery from a defendant who was guilty of willful and wanton misconduct. <u>National</u> <u>Car Rental System, Inc. v. Holland</u>, 269 So. 2d 407 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972); <u>Boyce v. Pi Kappa Alpha Holding</u> <u>Corp.</u>, 476 F. 2d 447 (5th Cir. 1973); <u>Johnson v.</u> <u>Rinesmith</u>, 238 So. 2d 659 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969); <u>Florida</u> Railway Co. v. Dorsey, 59 Fla. 260, 52 So. 963 (1910)

The question now becomes whether the comparative negligence doctrine is applicable where a

defendant's conduct is willful and wanton and the plaintiff is guilty of only ordinary negligence. In other words, can the ordinary negligence of a plaintiff be used to reduce the plaintiff's damages that were caused by the willful and wanton misconduct of a defendant? If the comparative negligence doctrine encompasses willful and wanton misconduct, and therefore compares such conduct with negligence (ordinary or gross), then there would be a reduction of plaintiff's recovery. On the other hand, if the Supreme Court intended to leave willful and wanton misconduct outside the purview of its judicially adopted comparative negligence doctrine, there would be no reduction of plaintiff's recovery.

In Florida, willful and wanton misconduct is not a degree of negligence, but differs in kind from negligence, and therefore the comparative negligence doctrine should not be invoked to reduce a plaintiff's damages by the percentage of his ordinary negligence where the defendant is guilty of willful and wanton misconduct. This is evident since under the common law of this state a plaintiff's ordinary negligence was not allowed to bar his recovery where the defendant was guilty of willful and wanton misconduct. National

-6-

<u>Car Rental</u>, supra; <u>Boyce</u>, supra; <u>Johnson</u>, supra; and Florida Railway, supra.

In <u>Johnson v. Rinesmith</u>, supra, the court adopted the restatement of Torts 2d, §482(1) which provides that the plaintiff's recovery should be for his full damages where a defendant is guilty of willful and wanton misconduct:

> "(1) * * * a plaintiff's contributory negligence does not bar recovery for harm caused by the defendant's reckless disregard for the plaintiff's safety."

Further evidence that Florida courts have held wanton and willful misconduct is a difference in kind, rather than degree, from negligence is the fact that gross negligence has been held not to amount to willful and wanton misconduct. <u>Dowling Lumber Co</u>. <u>v. King</u>, 50 So. 337 (Fla. 1912). Additionally, it has been held that gross negligence will not justify imposition of punitive damages. <u>Carter v. Lake Wales</u> <u>Hospital</u>, 213 So. 2d 898, but that wanton and willful misconduct will support punitive damages. <u>Sauer v</u>. Sauer, 128 So. 2d 761 (Fla. 2 DCA 1961) It follows that if gross negligence will not support a claim for punitive damages, but willful and wanton misconduct will, then willful and wanton misconduct is not a degree of negligence.

And finally, in 1975 Florida adopted the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasor's Act, F. A. 768.31, which provides for a right of contribution between joint tortfeasors if one of them pays more than his pro rata share of their common liability. Subsection 2 (c), however, disallows recovery of contribution to a defendant who is guilty of willful and wanton misconduct:

> "There is no right of contribution in favor of any tortfeasor who has intentionally (willfully or wantonly) caused or contributed to the injury or wrongful death."

The comments to the Uniform Act, in explaining why willful and wanton acts are excluded, state:

> " * * * willful and wanton acts seem naturally to belong in the same class with intentional wrongs and to imply moral turpitude on the part of the wrongdoer. The policy of the section as drafted adopts the law of those

states which do not recognize classification of negligence into degrees. It is intended to convey the idea that there is a difference between negligence and willful or wanton misconduct."

To permit a defendant, guilty of reckless disregard of safety (willful and wanton misconduct) to reap the benefit of any ordinary negligence by plaintiff would be to put the plaintiff in a worse position now than was enjoyed under the stricter doctrines of the common law. Surely, this state's movement into the comparative negligence arena was not intended to accomplish such a result.

CONCLUSION

There is not conflict jurisdiction under Point I, raised by Petitioner. There is jurisdiction under Point II, raised by Cross-Petitioner. This court should accept jurisdiction of this Cross-Petition, and make a clear prouncement again regarding the distinction between ordinary negligence and willfull/wanton misconduct.in the wake of comparative concepts.